THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

IN RE THE DETENTION OF

TROY BELCHER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR COWLITZ

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

TRAVIS STEARNS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

Troy Belcher was a child when he committed the sexual offenses for which the State indefinitely committed him. Mr. Belcher had been abandoned, with no father and an alcoholic mother. He had few community ties or connections to positive role models.

Fifteen years later, Mr. Belcher has grown up. He is no longer the person he was when he committed these offenses. As an adult, Mr. Belcher has never engaged in acts of sexual violence nor exhibited any interest in engaging in sexually violent conduct. He may suffer from an anti-social personality disorder, but there is insufficient evidence to conclude he suffers from a mental abnormality which would make him likely to commit a predatory sexually violent act.

Like all juvenile sex offenders, there is little likelihood Mr.

Belcher will reoffend as an adult. Social science overwhelmingly demonstrates that juvenile sex offenders do not become adult sex offenders. Mr. Belcher's case goes beyond this generic truth. As an adult, he has become treatment compliant. He resides in the least restrictive environment at the Special Commitment Center and has had no behavior management reports in two years. He has passed polygraphs which show no deceit with regard to his sexual history and

penile plethysmographs show no reaction to sexually violent content.

Where there is no evidence of sexual violence as an adult, due process is violated when indefinite confinement is based upon youthful activity.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Indefinite confinement based upon conduct committed as a juvenile violates due process.
- 2. Future dangerousness findings based upon diagnostic tools designed to determine whether a person is likely to commit future violent crimes does not satisfy due process.
- 3. Commitment absent a valid, medically recognized mental disorder violates due process.
- 4. Indefinite confinement based upon an anti-social personality disorder is insufficient to satisfy due process.
- 5. A mental abnormality may not be based solely upon a medical diagnosis of anti-social personality disorder.
- 6. The State failed to present legally sufficient evidence of antisocial personality disorder.
- 7. The court erred in entering the following Findings of Fact: 7, 8, 9, 10, 12, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 22, 23, 27, and 28.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Children are constitutionally different from adults and lack the ability to exercise volitional control, even when they commit serious crimes. Principles of substantive due process prohibit indefinite civil commitment except in the narrowest of circumstances. Due process requires the State to prove that individuals are currently dangerous before they may be indefinitely confined. It is a violation of due process to base indefinite civil commitment upon conduct that occurred when a person was a juvenile, where there are no acts of sexual violence that occurred as an adult. Did the court violate Mr. Belcher's due process rights when it found he met the conditions for continued confinement under RCW 71.09 where the only acts of sexual violence occurred when he was a juvenile?
- 2. It is insufficient for purposes of RCW 71.09 to simply establish that a person is likely to generally commit a violent offence. Instead, due process requires that the State prove beyond a reasonable doubt that there is a likelihood the person will commit a *sexually* violent offense. Without evidence that juvenile sex offenders commit future sex offences as an adult, the State was only able to establish Mr. Belcher is likely to commit a future offense. Was Mr. Belcher's right to

due process violated where the State only established that he was likely to commit a violent offense?

- 3. Due process requires the State to prove the detainee has a serious, diagnosed mental disorder that causes him difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior before he may be committed. Without clear evidence of another mental disorder, evidence that a respondent suffers from anti-social personality disorder cannot support a finding of mental abnormality. Describing a person as having a high level of an anti-social personality disorder or psychopathy does not alter this analysis or satisfy due process as psychopathy is only another way to describe anti-social personality disorder. Mr. Belcher was only diagnosed with an anti-social personality or psychopathy disorder. Was his right to due process violated where the State only established that Mr. Belcher suffered from an anti-social personality disorder and had not acted in a sexually aggressive way as an adult?
- 4. RCW 71.09 requires that a personality disorder be established through the testimony of a licensed *forensic* psychiatrist or psychologist. It is legally insufficient to prove a personality disorder through the opinion of a licensed psychologist, even one who specializes in forensic science. Did the State fail to present legally

sufficient evidence to comply with RCW 71.09 when it failed to present the expert opinion of a licensed forensic psychiatrist or psychologist to prove Mr. Belcher had a personality disorder?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Troy Belcher was 13 and 15 years old when he committed the sex offenses for which he was incarcerated. CP 848.¹ All of the other sexual misconduct he has committed occurred when he was a child. *Id.* at 848-49. As a child, Mr. Belcher had no relationship with his biological father. 5A RP 915. His mother who was an alcoholic and physically abusive to him. *Id.* He was moved around a lot, causing school instability and no ability to build relationships with teachers. *Id.* He was forced to support himself and his two younger sisters through drug dealing. *Id.*

Mr. Belcher has been incarcerated since he was 15. He was confined first at Green Hill School and then served 27 months in prison. CP 849. When he was 23, the State moved to confine him indefinitely under RCW 71.09. Dr. Brian Judd testified on behalf of the

¹ There are nine volumes of transcripts. Counsel will reference them by the volume number designated on the cover sheet, along with the page number referenced. E.g., 1A RP 1. References to the clerk's papers will be by page number only. E.g., CP 1. An appendix containing the Court's Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law is attached.

State in Mr. Belcher's first trial, finding Mr. Belcher suffered from a mental abnormality, specifically Paraphilia NOS (Non-consent). Dr. Judd also diagnosed him with a personality disorder, finding Mr. Belcher met the criteria for Anti-Social Personality Disorder. He was committed after a jury trial on February 11, 2011. CP 847.

Mr. Belcher was granted a new unconditional release trial after the court found he had presented prima facie evidence that his condition had so changed because of treatment that he no longer met the requirements of RCW 71.09. CP 847.

Mr. Belcher waived his right to a jury trial. The court heard that until approximately two years prior to his second trial, Mr. Belcher had a history of rules violations, while in juvenile incarceration, adult prison and at the Special Commitment Center. 2B RP 480. Now 30, he had spent over half his life in custody. CP 848. Mr. Belcher's behavior had changed dramatically as he matured, the misbehavior declining so significantly that he had not received a negative behavior management report in the two years prior to trial. *Id.* at 526. He was treatment compliant and there had been an "absolute" decline in his behavioral problems at the Special Commitment Center. *Id.* at 527. Mr. Belcher passed both polygraphs and penile plethysmograph tests with regard to

his sexual desires and did not present as a person with deviant interests.

He was living in the least restrictive environment on McNeil Island. 3

RP 650.

Dr. Judd again testified at Mr. Belcher's second trial but this time did not diagnose him with any type of paraphilic disorder, including the previous diagnosis he had made. 2B RP 430. Dr. Judd found that one of the indicators for ruling out paraphilic disorders was because there is "no current evidence of rape behavior." 2B RP 431-32. Dr. Judd did find Mr. Belcher suffers from an anti-social personality disorder and had a high score on a test for psychopathy. 2 A RP 359.

Dr. Judd could not apply any actuarial test to Mr. Belcher's likelihood to commit a violent sexual offense, largely because Mr. Belcher was so young when he committed his offenses. 2B RP 468. Instead, Dr. Judd applied a Violence Risk Appraisal, which does not distinguish between sexual and other violent offenses. 3 RP 675. Dr. Judd found Mr. Belcher's likelihood to commit some new offense was high. 2B RP 546.

² Psychopathy is not defined in the current edition of the American Psychiatric Association, *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 5th ed. (2013) (Hereafter DSM-5). Instead, it is listed as a synonym for anti-social personality disorder. *Id.* at 659.

The judge found he suffered from a mental abnormality and was likely to commit a sexually violent offense if released to the community. CP 857. The judge ordered continued confinement under RCW 71.09. CP 858.

E. ARGUMENT

Children are constitutionally different. Due process is violated when the State indefinitely detains a person based upon juvenile sex offenses where no evidence of adult sexual violence exists. Because the State is obligated to establish Mr. Belcher is likely to commit a sexually violent offense, the use of diagnostic tools which only predict he is likely to commit a new unspecified offense violates his right to due process. The reliance upon an anti-social personality disorder diagnosis alone is constitutionally insufficient to establish a mental abnormality and requires proof from a licensed forensic psychiatrist or psychologist.

1. Involuntary commitment violates due process where it is based upon conduct which occurred when the detainee was a child.

The State violates the 14th Amendment of the United States

Constitution when it seeks to commit a person whose sexually violent acts occurred when they were a juvenile, where no further sexually

violent acts occurred after that person has become an adult. *Kansas v. Hendricks*, 521 U.S. 346, 356-57, 117 S. Ct. 2072, 138 L. Ed. 2d 501 (1997). Substantive due process requires that indefinite civil commitment be premised upon a showing of sustained impairment of volitional control. Children are constitutionally different from adults and lack the ability to exercise volitional control, even when they commit serious crimes. *Miller v. Alabama*, --- U.S. ---, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 2464, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012). An indefinite commitment based upon conduct which occurred when a person was a child is therefore insufficient to satisfy principles of substantive due process.

a. Juveniles are insufficiently developed to exhibit a lack of volitional control.

"[D]evelopments in psychology and brain science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds," including in "parts of the brain involved in behavior control." *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 2026, 176 L. Ed. 2d 825 (2010). Indeed, "adolescents are overrepresented statistically in virtually every category of reckless behavior." *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 569, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2005) (*quoting Jeffrey Arnett, Reckless Behavior in Adolescence: A Developmental Perspective*, 12 Developmental Rev. 339 (1992)); *see also Miller*, 132

S.Ct. at 2468 ("immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences" are the "hallmark features" of youth). "Juveniles are more capable of change than are adults, and their actions are less likely to be evidence of 'irretrievably depraved character' than are the actions of adults." *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 68 (*quoting Roper*, 543 U.S. at 570).

Juveniles tend to be immature, irresponsible and impulsive. *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 569 (*quoting Johnson v. Texas*, 509 U.S. 350, 367, 113 S. Ct. 2658, 125 L. Ed. 2d 290 (1993)). They are more susceptible to outside pressures, negative influences, and psychological damage. *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 569; *Eddings v. Oklahoma*, 455 U.S. 104, 115, 102 S. Ct. 869, 71 L.Ed.2d 1 (1982).

A juvenile's character is not as "well formed" as an adult's and their traits are "less fixed." *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 570. Accordingly, youthfulness is a mitigating factor at sentencing, sometimes even for persons who were no longer juvenile offenders when they committed their crimes. *See State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 358 P.3d 359, 366 (2015). Washington's legislature has recognized that "adolescent brains, and thus adolescent intellectual and emotional capabilities, differ significantly from those of mature adults. It is appropriate to take

these differences into consideration when sentencing juveniles tried as adults." RCW 9.94A.540.

The characteristics which lead to reckless and criminal behavior generally peak at ages 14-15 and gradually resolve until full psychosocial maturity is reached. Laurence Steinberg, et al., Are Adolescents Less Mature Than Adults? 64 Am. Psychologist 583, 589-91 (2009). Significant psychosocial maturation takes place in the late teens, with the most rapid improvement in responsibility, perspective and temperance usually coming somewhere between the ages of 16 and 19. Elizabeth Cauffman & Laurence Steinberg, (Im)maturity of Judgment in Adolescence: Why Adolescents May Be Less Culpable Than Adults, 18 Behav. Sci. L. 741, 747-49, 756 (2000). Many teenagers engage in risky, anti-social, and even criminal conduct, but for most of them these behaviors are "fleeting" and "cease with maturity as individual identity becomes settled. Only a relatively small proportion [will] develop entrenched patterns of problem behavior that persist into adulthood." Roper, 543 U.S. at 570 (quoting Laurence Steinberg & Elizabeth S. Scott, Less Guilty By Reason of Adolescence, 58 Am. Psychologist 1009, 1014 (2003)). "The reality that juveniles still struggle to define their identity means it is less supportable to

conclude that even a heinous crime committed by a juvenile is evidence of irredeemably depraved character." *Id*.

A steady decline in impulsivity begins in adolescence but remains elevated until an individual's mid-twenties. Marsha Levick, et al., The Eighth Amendment Evolves: Defining Cruel and Unusual Punishment through the Lens of Childhood and Adolescence, 15 U. Pa. J. L. & Soc. Change 285, 295 (2012). In fact, the brain's frontal lobe, which controls advanced functions including imagination, abstract thought, judgment of consequences, planning and controlling impulses, continues to develop into an individual's early twenties. Michele Deitch et al., From Time Out to Hard Time: Young Children in the Adult Criminal Justice System, The Univ. of Tex. Lyndon B. Johnson School of Public Affairs Special Project Report, 13-14 (2009). Washington recognizes the particular vulnerabilities of youth including "impulsivity, poor judgment, and susceptibility to outside influence" may be considered at sentencing for persons who have been convicted of crimes they committed as young adults. O'Dell, 358 P.3d at 364.

This maturation process means that juvenile sex offenders are unlikely to continue to offend as adults. As a result, the United States Department of Justice's Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency

Prevention (OJJDP) has recognized that very few juvenile sexual offenders commit new offenses as adults. Sue Righthand & Carlann Welch, Juveniles Who Have Sexually Offended: A Review of the Professional Literature, 30 (March 2001), available at http://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/ojjdp/184739.pdf. The psychosocial deficits of adolescence, including poor impulse control gradually resolve upon maturation. United States v. Juvenile Male, 590 F.3d 924, 940 (9th Cir. 2010), vacated as moot, 131 S. Ct. 2860, 180 L.Ed.2d 811 (2011). Most juveniles who commit sexual offenses as adolescents cease that conduct as adults. Id. It is "the exception rather than the rule" for an adolescent sex offender to become an adult sex offender. Ian A. Nisbet, et al., A Prospective Longitudinal Study of Sexual Recidivism Among Adolescent Offenders 16 Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment 223, 232 (2004).

"[R]ecidivism rates for juvenile [sex] offenders are significantly lower than for adult [sex] offenders" and the propensity for committing offenses as a youth does not translate into a likelihood to commit future sex offenses as an adult. *Juvenile Male*, 590 F.3d at 940. This Court should doubt whether tools exist which can be used to evaluate a youthful offender's risk of recidivism for adult sexual offenses when

the sexually violent acts occurred when the offender was a youth. *See e.g.*, *In re J.P.*, 339 N.J. Super. 443, 455, 772 A.2d 54 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 2001) (Reason to doubt whether actuarial tools may be applied when all of an offenders sexual offense occurred prior to adulthood). Because of the lack of any correlation between juvenile and adult sexual offending, basing involuntary commitment solely upon acts committed as a juvenile violates due process.

b. Mr. Belcher has not committed any sexually violent acts as an adult or exhibited any behavior as an adult consistent with sexually violent aggression.

The trial court relied upon Mr. Belcher's history as a juvenile to continue his indefinite confinement. CP 849 (Finding of Fact 7), 855 (Finding of Fact 22). The State's expert based his clinical diagnosis of Mr. Belcher upon Mr. Belcher's "history of conduct when he was last at liberty in the community," "his behavior when he was at least in custody as a juvenile at Green Hill school," "the persistence of the antisocial personality disorder," and "the level of psychopathy that he's historically demonstrated." 2B RP 464 (emphasis added). This is an insufficient basis to satisfy constitutional requirements of due process. See CP 855 (Finding of Fact 23).

It cannot be overstated that Mr. Belcher's sexually violent acts occurred when he was a juvenile. Mr. Belcher only engaged in sexually violent behavior as a child. CP 856 (Finding of Fact 27). He was 13 and 15 years old when he committed his sexual offenses. CP 848. The only allegations of other sexual assaults occurred when he was a child. *Id.* at 848-49. There are no instances of him acting in a sexually violent way as an adult. 5A RP 898. To the contrary, all of his sexual activity since he became an adult is described by the State as consensual. *Id.*

While he was maturing, Mr. Belcher continued to engage in the risky and illegal behavior exhibited in many young persons. He threatened to kill one of his victims and was sentenced as adult, serving time with the Department of Corrections. CP 849. During his initial time at the Special Commitment Center, Mr. Belcher also received a number of behavior management reports. 2B RP 481. The State also introduced evidence of past anger and deception. 2B RP 403, 5B RP 1097.

Mr. Belcher then began to show he had matured. Dr. Judd characterized his behavior since maturation as "an absolute improvement." 3 RP 615. In the two years prior to this trial, Mr. Belcher had not received any Behavior Management Reports. 3 RP

614. He was treatment compliant. 2B RP 527. He was able to identify dynamic risk factors. 3 RP 612. He was housed in the least restrictive living environment at the Special Commitment Center. 3 RP 650.

The evidence the court heard about brain development also supports the conclusion that Mr. Belcher, like almost all other juvenile offenders, is not likely to reoffend as an adult. Dr. Brian Abbot informed the court that "most adult sex offenders do not have a history of offending as juveniles." 5A RP 1027. Child sex offenders grow up and gain "developmental maturity" in the "prefrontal cortex of the brain" which "fully develops in the mid 20's." *Id.* This development may be a "contributing factor to the decreasing rates of sexual recidivism for these adolescents who were followed into their adult years as the brain developed and they gained better impulse control, reason, and judgment skills." *Id.*³

In fact, there is no current evidence Mr. Belcher has any interest in committing a sexually violent act. He is now 30 and has never acted out in a sexually violent way as an adult. CP 856 (Finding of Fact 27).

³ Dr. Judd dismissed the impact of youth on Mr. Belcher's likelihood to reoffend because he had received behavioral management reports after he had turned 25. 6 RP 1168. This argument fails to account for the fluid nature of maturation or the fact Mr. Belcher has received little positive role modeling to base correct behavior upon until later in the maturation process.

The penile plethysmograph performed on Mr. Belcher indicates he is not aroused by deviant sexual behavior. 3 RP 636. The State's polygraph examinations reach the same conclusion: that Mr. Belcher is uninterested in violent sexual behavior. 3 RP 642. Mr. Belcher has grown up and displays no interest in committing a sexually violent act.

c. Mr. Belcher's commitment order should be reversed.

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