COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of:

TROY BELCHER,,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

SARAH SAPPINGTON Senior Counsel WSBA #14514 Attorney General's Office 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, Wa 98104 (206) 389-2019 OID# 91094

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

Since *Young*, numerous courts have rejected challenges to the diagnosis of ASPD as a basis for civil commitment. *See*, *e.g. Adams v. Bartow*, 330 F.3d 957, 961 (7th Cir. 2003) (*Foucha* does not preclude civil commitments based on a diagnosis of ASPD); *Hubbart v. Superior Court*, 19 Cal.4th 1138, 969 P.2d 584, 599 (Cal. 1999). Indeed, the *Hubbart* Court flatly rejected the same argument Belcher raises here:

Nothing in . . . Foucha as a whole, purports to limit the range of mental impairments that may lead to the "permissible" confinement of dangerous and disturbed individuals. Nor did Foucha state or imply that antisocial personality conditions and past criminal conduct play no proper role in the commitment determination. The high court concluded only that Foucha's due process rights were violated because the State had sought to continue his confinement as an insanity acquittee without proving that he was either mentally ill or dangerous.

Id., 969 P.2d at 599 (internal citations omitted; emphasis in original). See also In re G.R.H., 711 N.W.2d 587, 595 (N.D. 2006) (under both Hendricks and Crane, sufficient evidence in the record established nexus between G.R.H.'s ASPD and his difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior); In re Detention of Sease, 149 Wn. App. 66, 201 P.3d 1078,

⁷ The DSM-III-R is the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual III-Revised, a compendium of mental disorders published by the America Psychiatric Association. The current iteration of this manual is the DSM-V.

1085 (2009) (affirming civil commitment based on diagnoses of ASPD and at least one other personality disorder, where each constituted an alternative means for establishing a mental disorder); *In re Commitment of Adams*, 588 N.W.2d 336, 341 (Wis.App. 1998); *In re Shafer*, 171 S.W.3d 768, 771 (Mo.App. S.D. 2005); *Murrell v. State*, 215 S.W.3d 96, 108 (Mo. 2007); *In re Detention of Barnes*, 689 N.W.2d 455, 459-60 (Iowa 2004) (concluding that neither *Hendricks* nor *Crane* precluded commitments based on ASPD).

While numerous courts have rejected this argument, the most thorough treatment of this issue is found in *Brown v. Watters*, 599 F.3d 602 (7th Cir. 2010). Brown, like Belcher, argued that the diagnosis of ASPD is "constitutionally insufficient to support civil commitment." 599 F.3d at 611-12. Citing both *Foucha* and *Crane*, the court soundly rejected this argument. While acknowledging that "the diagnosis of [ASPD] is the subject of some significant professional debate," the court stated that "the existence of a professional debate about a diagnosis or its use in the civil commitment context does not signify its insufficiency for due process purposes, particularly where, as here, that debate has been evaluated by the factfinder." *Id.* at 614. The court also rejected Brown's argument, identical to that made by Belcher (App. Br. at 26), that, because a significant percentage of the male prison population is diagnosable with

ASPD, the diagnosis "does not distinguish a subgroup of offenders for whom preventative detention is appropriate." *Id.* at 614. Commenting that this argument "misses the mark," the court went on to cite to *Crane*:

[T]here must be proof of serious difficulty in controlling behavior. And this, when viewed in light of such features of the case as the nature of the psychiatric diagnosis, and the severity of the mental abnormality itself, must be sufficient to distinguish between the dangerous sexual offender whose serious mental illness, abnormality, or disorder subjects him to civil commitment from the dangerous but typical recidivist convicted in an ordinary criminal case.

Id. at 614, citing *Crane*, 534 U.S. at 413. If, the court continued, "the condition of [ASPD] is serious enough to cause an inability to control sexually violent behavior, the standards set by the Supreme Court would be satisfied." *Id.*, 699 F.3d at 615. Belcher's argument that ASPD is an inadequate basis for commitment fails.

2. Dr. Judd's testimony established that Belcher suffered from a mental abnormality

Belcher next asserts that Dr. Judd's diagnosis of ASPD does not constitute a mental abnormality or form the basis for commitment. App. Br. at 29. This argument is without merit. As Dr. Judd's extensive trial testimony demonstrated, the term "mental abnormality," as applied to Belcher's particular mental condition and the way that mental condition

expressed itself in criminal behavior, has real meaning and withstands constitutional challenge.

Various unsuccessful vagueness challenges to the sex predator statute have been raised since the statute's inception. In *Young*, the Washington State Supreme Court rejected vagueness challenges to several statutory terms, including "mental abnormality." *Young*, 122 Wn.2d at 49. Rejecting the challenge to the term "mental abnormality," the Court held that "the experts who testified at the commitment trials adequately explained and gave meaning to this term within a psychological context." *Id.* at 49-50. Because the record clearly demonstrates that Dr. Judd "adequately explained and gave meaning to this term within a psychological context" in this case, Belcher's challenge fails.

Nor is Belcher's argument to the effect that the mental condition described by Dr. Judd is not a diagnosis within the pages of the DSM-V persuasive. In rejecting a similar argument relating to the diagnosis of Paraphilia Not Otherwise Specified: Nonconsent in that case, the *Young* court observed:

The fact that pathologically driven rape, for example, is not yet listed in the DSM-III-R does not invalidate such a diagnosis. The DSM is, after all, an evolving and imperfect document. Nor is it sacrosanct. ... What is critical for our purposes is that psychiatric and psychological clinicians

who testify in good faith as to mental abnormality are able to identify sexual pathologies that are as real and meaningful as other pathologies already listed in the DSM.

122 Wn. 2d at 28 (emphasis added) (quoting Alexander D. Brooks, *The Constitutionality and Morality of Civilly Committing Sexually Violent Predators*, 15 U. PUGET SOUND L. REV. 709, 733 (1991-92)).

Belcher's underlying concern appears to be that Dr. Judd's "novel" diagnosis runs afoul of *Crane* because it is not "medically recognized" and as such does not "distinguish the dangerous sexual offender whose serious mental illness, abnormality, or disorder subjects him [or her] to civil commitment from the dangerous but typical recidivist in an ordinary criminal case" as required by *Hendricks*. App. Br. at 23.

A careful reading of both *Crane* and other cases cited in support of this proposition makes clear that, contrary to Belcher's assertions, Dr. Judd's conclusion that Belcher's diagnosis constituted a mental abnormality under the law forms, along with his other testimony, a sufficient basis for commitment. Neither the United States Supreme Court nor the appellate courts of other jurisdictions share Belcher's fixation on the semantics of particular diagnostic classifications. The Supreme Court has, for decades and in a variety of contexts, repeatedly acknowledged "the uncertainty of diagnosis in this field and the tentativeness of professional judgment" (*Greenwood v. United States*,

350 U.S. 366, 375, 76 S. Ct. 410, 100 L. Ed. 412 (1956). Reported cases, the Court has noted, "are replete with evidence of the divergence of medical opinion in this vexing area." O'Conner v. Donaldson, 422 U.S. 563, 579, 95 S. Ct. 2486, 45 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1975) (C.J. Burger, concurring). Psychiatry, the Court has noted, "is not... an exact science, and psychiatrists disagree widely and frequently on what constitutes mental illness, on the appropriate diagnosis to be attached to given behavior and symptoms, on cure and treatment, and on likelihood of future dangerousness." Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 US 68, 105 S. Ct. 1087, 84 L. Ed. 2d 53 (1985). Likewise, the Washington State Supreme Court has noted that "the DSM-IV-TR candidly acknowledges...that each category of mental disorder is not a completely discrete entity." State v. Klein, 156 Wn.2d 103, 120. 124 P.3d 644 (2005). For that reason, "the subjective and evolving nature of psychology may lead to different diagnoses that are based on the very same symptoms, yet differ only in the name attached to it." Id. See also Personal Restraint of Meirhofer, 182 Wn.2d 632, 343 P.3d 731 (2015). Construing the law to mandate release "based on mere semantics would lead to absurd results and risks to the patient and public beyond those intended by the legislature." *Klein* at 121.

The Court's decision in *Crane* reflects and is entirely consistent with this approach. There, the Court was asked to clarify the "lack of control" requirement articulated in *Hendricks*. Contrary to Belcher's assertion, there is nothing in *Crane* that requires that the underlying mental abnormality must be "medically recognized." While the Crane Court acknowledged "[t]he presence of what the "psychiatric profession itself classifie[d] . . . as a serious mental disorder" "helped to make" the distinction between those appropriate for civil commitment and the "typical recidivist" (Crane, 534 U.S. at 413), nowhere did the Court state that such "classification" by the psychiatric profession was mandated, nor did it state that, in order to justify commitment, the diagnosed condition must be "medically recognized." Consistent with its remark in *Hendricks* that the term "mental illness" was "devoid of any talismanic significance" (Hendricks, 521 U.S. at 358-59), the Crane Court steered clear of semantic mandates, noting that "the Constitution's safeguards of human liberty in the area of mental illness and the law are not always best enforced through precise bright-line rules." 534 U.S. at 413. The Court went on to observe that "the science of psychiatry, which informs but does not control ultimate legal determinations, is an ever-advancing science, whose distinctions do not seek precisely to mirror those of the law." Id. Noting that it had not, in Hendricks, given the phrase "lack of control" "a particularly narrow or technical meaning," the Court observed that, "where lack of control is at issue, 'inability to control behavior' will not be demonstrable with mathematical precision." *Id.* Rather,

[i]t is enough to say that there must be proof of serious difficulty in controlling behavior. And this, when viewed in light of such features of the case as the nature of the psychiatric diagnosis, and the severity of the mental abnormality itself, must be sufficient to distinguish the dangerous sexual offender whose serious mental illness, abnormality, or disorder subjects him to civil commitment from the dangerous but typical recidivist convicted in an ordinary criminal case.

Id.

Here, the trial court had ample opportunity to evaluate the merits of Dr. Judd's opinion by listening to the substantial contrary professional opinions that were presented at trial by Belcher's expert, Dr. Brian Abbott. Dr. Judd explained the basis for his diagnosis at length, discussing the factual basis for both his opinion that the combination of antisocial personality disorder and a high level of psychopathy, as expressed in Belcher, constituted a mental abnormality under the law. Vol. 2B RP at 464. Dr. Judd explained both what he understood by the term "mental abnormality" (*Id.* at 456-58) and why that term applied to Belcher: He suffers from a "congenital or acquired condition" in the form of this combination of an antisocial personality disorder with high psychopathy. *Id.* This condition "affects his emotional or volitional capacity:" Dr. Judd

explained that the combination of these conditions "basically limit[s] [Belcher's] ability to experience empathy, to experience a sense of remorse for his conduct and his behavior, [and] to identify with other people's feelings and emotions." *Id.* at 462. Finally, this mental condition "predisposes" Belcher "to the commission of criminal sexual acts in a degree constituting ... a menace to the health and safety of others" and causes Belcher to have serious difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior. *Id.* at 462-64. This testimony both gave meaning to the term mental abnormality "within a psychological context" as required by *Young*, and provided an ample basis from which the court could conclude that Belcher had "serious difficulty" controlling his sexually violent behavior as required by *Crane*. Belcher's challenge fails.

Belcher also argues that the diagnosis of ASPD is improper because it is based on behaviors long ago, and that he no longer evidences the antisocial behavior so prominent in his youth. Dr. Judd explained, however, that his assessment looked at "the overall functioning of the individual over a period of time." Vol. 2A RP at 378. Belcher's antisocial tendencies have persisted over a sustained period of time, emerging first in late childhood and adolescence, and continuing to be "significantly in evidence" until the last few years before this trial. Vol. 2B RP at 424. While the "relative cessation during the last couple of years" is an

spectrum of his conduct over a period of many, many years" still exists. *Id.* Manifestations of his personality disorder "can wax and wane because the manifestation of the disorder may also depend upon the opportunity to act upon these various urges" and "can be less prominent in a structured environment." *Id.* Antisocial personality disorder, however, "tends to be seen" as a chronic condition, for which there is "no real cure[.]" Vol. 2A at 380. Because Belcher had a sufficient number of relevant symptoms "both as an adolescent and as an adult," the diagnosis was warranted. *Id.* at 361. *See also* Vol. 2B RP at 463 (same "constellation of symptoms," has persisted since adolescence). As such, the mere fact of chronological aging is insufficient to reduce Belcher's risk of re-offense.

The trial court also heard extensive testimony from Belcher's expert, Dr. Brian Abbott, regarding Belcher's mental condition. SA RP at 847-1047; 5B RP at 1048-1123. Much of this testimony related to Belcher's central argument to the effect that his youthful behavior was not predictive of his behavior as an adult, and included testimony related to his diagnosis, the development of the pre-frontal cortex, the decreasing rates of recidivism for adolescents as they enter their adult years, and the

⁸ Dr. Abbott did not conduct a risk assessment of Belcher. CP at 856; Finding of Fact No. 26.

difficulty in assessing risk for persons who committed sexual offenses as adolescents. Vol. 5A RP at 993-1027. The court thus had an opportunity to consider the possibility that, although Belcher had indeed been a juvenile at the time of his offenses, he had since aged and, as implied by Belcher's argument, matured to the point that he could no longer be said to be "likely" to reoffend. The trial court, however, rejected Dr. Abbott's "narrow view of the facts and circumstances surrounding Mr. Belcher's relevant psychological issues" as biased and lacking in credibility, noting that Dr. Abbott's opinions "have been inconsistent over a very short period of time" and "seem to change depending on Mr. Belcher's legal position, rather than psychological or other forensic issues." CP at 855-56, Finding of Fact Nos. 24-25. Belcher does not assign error to these findings. The trial court correctly concluded that Belcher suffered from a mental abnormality.

3. Belcher waived any claim that Dr. Judd's report lacked foundation or was insufficient because of his credentials.

In Washington, litigants and the courts are protected against issues and arguments made for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5. A party waives the right to appeal an error not raised below. *State v. Kalebaugh*, 183 Wn.2d 578, 583, 355 P.3d 253, 255 (2015). In general, the reviewing court will not review an issue, theory, argument, or claim of error not presented

at the trial court level. *Mukilteo Ret. Apartments, L.L.C. v. Mukilteo Investors L.P.*, 176 Wn. App. 244, 258, 310 P.3d 814, 821 (2013) review denied sub nom. *Mukilteo Ret. Apartments v. Mukilteo Investors, LP*, 179 Wn.2d 1025, 320 P.3d 719 (2014) citing *Pellino v. Brink's, Inc.*, 164 Wn. App. 668, 685 n. 8, 267 P.3d 383 (2011).

Belcher's argument regarding Dr. Judd's credentials was not presented to the trial court, and Dr. Judd was permitted to offer his opinion regarding Belcher's personality disorder without objection. Vol. 2A RP at 355-381. Belcher also refers to board certifications regarding forensics which were not presented to the trial court. Belcher did not present anything to the trial court that even approached this argument and therefore Belcher has not preserved it for appellate review.

4. Dr. Judd is a licensed forensic psychologist as intended by the statute.

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